## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## NO.2006-KA-01446-COA

ROBERT LEE ROBINSON

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## BRIEF OF APPELLANT

AN APPEAL OF THE CONVICTION FOR FOUR COUNTS OF POSSESSION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE AS AN HABITUAL AND SECOND AND SUBSEQUENT OFFENDER UNDER SECTIONS 99-19-81 AND 41-29-147 MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED 1972 AS AMENDED AND A SENTENCE TO A TOTAL OF FORTY-FIVE YEARS WITHIN THE CUSTODY AND CONTROL OF THE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS WHICH SHALL NOT BE REDUCED OR SUSPENDED NOR IS THE DEFENDANT ELIGIBLE FOR PROBATION OR PAROLE

## APPELLANT IS CURRENTLY INCARCERATED

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

JOHNNIE E. WALLS, JR.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY FAILED TO GRANT A JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE JURY VERDICT OF GUILTY OF POSSESSION OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES ALTHOUGH THE VERDICTS WAS CONTRARY TO THE FACTS AND THE LAW IN THAT THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A GUILTY VERDICT ON THE CHARGE OF ILLEGAL POSSESSION OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Robert Lee Robinson, was indicted on March 22, 2006 before a grand jury in Second Judicial District of Bolivar County, Mississippi for possession of controlled substances on March 2, 2005: in Count I, ecstacy or methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA), a Schedule I controlled substance as listed in Section 41-29-113 ( c) (4) of the Mississippi Code of 1972 Annotated, as amended, in an amount greater than 40 dosage units; in Count II, cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance as listed in Section 41-20-115 (A) (a) ((4) of the Mississippi Code Annotated 1972, as amended, in an amount greater that .1 gram but less than 2 grams; in Count III, marijuana, a Schedule I controlled substance as listed in Section 41-29-113 (c) (14) of the Mississippi Code Annotated 1972, as amended, in an amount greater that 30 gram but less than 250 grams; and in Count IV, Alprazolam, a Schedule IV controlled substance as listed in Section 41-29-119 (b) (1) of the Mississippi Code Annotated 1972, as amended, in an amount less than 100 dosage units (R. 1-2) (RE 5-6) The State on the eve of trial on May 10, 2006 made a Motion to amend the indictment to charge the Appellant as an habitual offender as provided in Section 99-19-81 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended and it was granted. (R. 20-23) (RE 23-26)

The Appellant filed a Motion to Suppress, through trial counsel, Boyd Atkinson, the evidence seized as a violation of the guaranteed to the Appellant's by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment of the

United States Constitution and Section 23 of the Constitution of the State of Mississippi because of the unreasonable manner in which the search and seizure of Appellant's automobile was conducted by Mississippi State Troopers which precipitated the indictment. (R. 10-11) (RE 14-15) A pretrial suppression hearing was conducted by the Court on May 4, 2006. (Tr. 2-30) (RE 76-104) Following the hearing the Court issued a written opinion and order denying the Motion To Suppress on May 4, 2006. (R.14-19) (RE 18-22)

On May 11, 2006 the appellant filed via his counsel a Motion For a Continuance of the trial set to commence on May 12, 2006. (R.33-34) (RE 36-37) The appellant asserted that he desired to call a witness that was material to his defense. A witness who could corroborate his assertion about the amount of currency found by the State Troopers when his vehicle was stopped. The witness was out of the United States and could not be served with a subpoena. The Motion for a continuance was denied on the day the trial commenced. (RE 111) (Tr.38)

The trial commenced on May 12, 2006 and ended with a jury verdict of guilty on all four counts of the indictment on the same day. (R.29-32) (RE 32-35,215-216) (Tr.226-227) The State called the arresting officer, the canine officer who brought the dog to search the car of Appellant, an officer of the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics who retrieved the alleged drugs found in the vehicle of Appellant and transported them to the Mississippi Crime Laboratory,

and a drug analyst from the Mississippi Crime Laboratory as its witnesses in chief. After the State rested, the Appellant moved the Court for a directed verdict which was overruled. (R. 151-152) (Tr. 143-144)

The Appellant proceeded to present his case. (TR 153-182) (RE 159-188) The Appellant chose to testify in his defense and also called his nephew, William Wilson. After the testimony of Wilson was completed, the Appellant rested. The State declined to present any rebuttal proof.

The jury retired to deliberate at 5:37 P.M. and returned into open court with verdicts of guilty on each of the four counts at 5:55 P.M. after only 18 minutes of deliberation. (TR. 226) (RE. 215) Following a sentencing hearing Appellant was sentenced by the Judge as a habitual offender to a total of 45 years with fines. (R.47-58) (RE. 48-59) Sentencing Orders were entered by the Court May 22, 2005. (R.42-46) (RE 45-27) The sentences of the Court were for a total term of Forty-five (45) Years within the custody and control of the Mississippi Department of Corrections which shall not be reduced or suspended nor shall he be eligible for probation or parole and the sentence is to run consecutive to any sentence previously imposed. (R. 42-58) (RE 45-59)

The motion for JNOV or in the Alternative New Trial was filed and denied. (R. 59-60,61) (RE.60-61,62) Present counsel timely filed a Notice of Appeal for Appellant. (R.62-63) (RE 63-64)

Present counsel filed the Notice Of Appeal and Motion for Reasonable Bond Pending Appeal which was denied. No further orders are apparent from the record.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant who lived at 4729 Lofton in Memphis, Tennessee and who also lives at 1100 College Street, Cleveland, Mississippi. He also lives with his business partner, Joe Moore, at 1100 College, Cleveland, Mississippi. Joe Moore works for Texaco Oil and works six (6) weeks in Nigeria, Africa and six (6) weeks in Cleveland, alternately.

Appellant and Joe Moore were business partners in a Soul Food Restaurant that they were opening at 5181 Winchester, Memphis, Tennessee. The business was to be called "Mercie's Soul Food And More."

On the morning of March 2, 2005 Appellant left Memphis in his White Oldsmobile alone to travel to Cleveland, Mississippi to meet Joe Moore to explain the format of the Restaurant and to pick up Joe Moore's part of the money for the restaurant. (TR.156) (RE. 162)

After Appellant arrived in Cleveland, he received Twenty-four Hundred Dollars in cash from Joe Moore and when he left Cleveland, he put the money in the glove compartment of the white Oldsmobile he was driving. Appellant had owned he car about a year and a half, and he had Tennessee license plates on it.

Appellant stayed in Cleveland about 45 minutes, and left for the return trip to Memphis, driving north on U.S. Highway 61. Slightly south of Shelby and just north of Winstonville, Appellant was stopped by State Trooper Dan Rawlinson. Radar indicated that he was

traveling 73 mile per hour. Trooper Rawlinson told him that he was speeding, driving in excess of the posted speed limit of 65. Rawlinson observed that there was no inspection sticker on the vehicle and there was dark tint on the windows. The Trooper asked Appellant for his drivers license and insurance card, and he complied. He had a valid Mississippi drivers license. The license reflects Appellant's address as 1100 College Street, Cleveland, Mississippi. While Rawlinson was standing next to the vehicle and talking to Appellant, he later testified that he smell what he "believed to be the odor of raw marijuana coming from the vehicle." Rawlinson then asked Appellant if he had anything illegal in the vehicle, and Appellant stated that he did not. Rawlinson said Appellant verbally gave him permission to search the vehicle. Appellant was then asked to step out of the vehicle and to stand in front of the vehicle, and Rawlinson searched interior of the vehicle and no illegal contraband was found. He located a large sum of money in the console. Rawlinson then asked Appellant if he could search the trunk and Appellant replied "If you have a warrant." (Tr.104-105) (RE. 113-114)

Appellant disputes that he made any such statements, but did not give permission for Rawlinson to search his vehicle, neither interior nor trunk.

Rawlinson then went back to his car to write a ticket, and while he was running a check on Appellant's driver's license and tag

number, he called for assistance from the Sheriff's Department as well as a Highway Patrol Canine Officer. The driver's license showed no history and the tag came back as being on a blue Oldsmobile Cutlass, yet Appellant was driving a white Oldsmobile Cutlass. He then went back to see if the information he received matched and he noticed that the VIN number was not correctly fastened to the dashboard. He opened the door and noticed that the identification number had been striped off the door. The dog then arrived and began sniffing the car. The dog "alerted" on the car, but not on the trunk, he without consent of Appellant opened and began to search the trunk.

Trooper Rawlinson found some items of clothing, a pair of women's shoes and a small bag that appeared to be a shaving kit or overnight bag. Upon opening the bag, he observed a what appeared to be marijuana, pill bottles that contained some pills and what appeared to be cocaine, ecstacy and xanax. Appellant was placed under arrest and later charged with possession of controlled substance.

Jeff Overstreet, an agent with the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics arrived on the scene. He retrieved the alleged drugs and delivered them to the Mississippi Crime Laboratory for analysis.

Eric Frazure a forensic scientist received the alleged drugs in the Mississippi Crime Laboratory and weighed them and preformed tests for purposes of identifying them. He later testified to their identity, weight, and controlled substances classification.

Appellant denied having any knowledge of the presence of the drugs. Appellant had not driven the car regularly and did not look into the trunk prior to leaving Memphis. He was surprised when the Trooper Rawlinson showed him the bag and told him of its contents.

At trial William Wilson, the teenaged nephew of Appellant testified that he had found the bag he evening prior to Appellant's trip to Cleveland, while playing basketball-he observed the bag laying in some bushes, he retrieved it, opened it and recognized the marijuana and decided to keep it and sell it.

Wilson lived with Appellant and his wife. Appellant is his uncle. He testified that he declined to take the bag in his aunt's home, because she would ask a lot of questions. He decided to put the bag in his uncle's White Oldsmobile that was sitting in the yard until the next morning because his Uncle hardly ever drove the white Oldsmobile. The car was not locked so he simply opened the door, opened the glove compartment, pushed the truck release button, and put the bag in the car, expecting to get it the next morning, March 2, 2005. When he awaken the next morning after having slept late, the Car was gone. He came forward to prevent his uncle for being convicted for something that he did not know about. (TR. 183-199) (RE. 189-205)

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant contends that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Appellant's motion for a judgment notwithstanding the jury verdict or in alternative a new trial when the jury returned a verdict finding the Appellant guilty of four counts of possession of controlled substances when the state offered no proof to establish the necessary elements of the crime of illegal possession of a controlled substance, i.e, there was insufficient evidence presented to sustain a verdict of guilty of the actual or constructive illegal possession of controlled substances.

### **ARGUMENT**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY FAILED TO GRANT A JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE JURY VERDICT OF GUILTY OF POSSESSION OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES ALTHOUGH THE VERDICT WAS CONTRARY TO THE FACTS AND THE LAW IN THAT THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A GUILTY VERDICT ON THE CHARGE OF ILLEGAL POSSESSION OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES.

The Appellant contends and asserts here, as in his Motion For Judgement Notwithstanding The Jury Verdict, that the verdicts of "guilty" on the four charge of possession of controlled substances in Counts I, II, III, and IV of the indictment were contrary to the evidence as a matter of law. As set forth herein, supra, the pivotal issue in this case was whether the Appellant had actual or constructive knowledge of the presence of the contraband drugs found by Trooper Rawlinson in the trunk of his car.

The indictment charged that the defendant "did unlawfully, wilfully and feloniously, ..... have in his possession a certain controlled substance....[.] The jury was instructed in jury instruction D-1:

Possession, as that term is used in this case, may be actual or constructive. A person has actual possession when he or she knowingly has direct, immediate and exclusive physical control over the thing or object. A person has constructive possession when he or she lacks actual possession of something but knowingly has both the power and intention at a given time to exercise control or dominion over the thing or through another person. For there to be constructive possession, there must be sufficient facts to warrant a finding that Robert Lee Robinson was aware of the presence of drugs in the trunk of his car and was intentionally and consciously in possession of those drugs.

[Emphasis Added] ( R.24) ( RE.27)

In *Curry v. State*, 249 So.2d 414 (Miss. 1971) the Mississippi Supreme Court defined possession:

What constitutes a sufficient external relationship between the defendant and the narcotic property to complete the concept of "possession" is a question which is not susceptible of a specific rule. However, there must be sufficient facts to warrant a finding that defendant was aware of the presence and character of the particular substance and was intentionally and consciously in possession of it. It need not be actual physical possession. Constructive possession may be shown by establishing that the drug involved was subject to his dominion or control. Proximity is usually an essential element, but by itself is not adequate in the absence of other incriminating circumstances. In the instant case, all of the circumstances and these criteria were sufficient to warrant the jury in finding that appellant was in possession of the marijuana.

Appellant asserted that he had no knowledge that the controlled substances were in his car. His nephew asserted and testified that he, rather than Appellant had put the bag containing the drugs in the trunk of the car the night immediately prior to Appellant's driving from Memphis, Tennessee to Cleveland, Mississippi on the morning of March 2, 2005. If that assertion and testimony of the Appellant and his nephew was true, then Appellant is innocent and should not have been found guilty by the jury.

The jury did, however, find Appellant guilty of illegal possession of drugs. Given the instructions charged to the jury by the Court and the law governing the definition of illegal possession, then those verdicts had to have been supported by evidence, not speculation. What could that evidence have been?

The state presented the following:

- 1. Robert Lee Robinson owned and was driving the car where illegal drugs were found in a bag in the trunk.
- 2. There were no illegal drugs found either on the person of Robert Lee Robinson or in the interior of the Car.
  - 3. There was \$2400.00 found in the console of the car.
- 4. The substances found in the trunk were in fact controlled substances within the meaning of Mississippi Law.

Could a reasonable person or reasonable juror conclude from the forgoing facts that Appellant was knowingly, wilfully, and

unlawfully in possession of the drugs found? He definitely was in actual possession, but is that enough to find him guilty of unlawful possession of controlled substances under the circumstances surrounding his arrest?

The state did not present any evidence to show that he put the drugs in the car or handled the drugs in any way. Did the state by and through any means which were certainly available to it, determine whether or not the Appellant ever handled or touched the drugs? Did the state check the pill bottles for fingerprints or any other identifying agent? Did the Appellant engage in any suspicious activity which would have given the Troopers who testified at trial any indication that he was aware of the presence of the contraband drugs? No.

We must concede that Appellant, the owner of the vehicle in question, exercised dominion and control over the vehicle he was driving, but that clearly does not mean he exercised dominion and control over the drugs. He would have to have knowledge of their presence. Although a presumption of constructive possession arises against the person(s) who exercises exclusive dominion and control over the vehicle which contraband or controlled substances are found, that presumption is rebuttable. **Pool v. State**, 483 So.2d 331 (Miss. 1986)

Appellant further urges this Court to compare the facts in his case at bar to the finding and holding in **Fultz v. State**, 573

So.2d 689 (Miss. 1990). There the defendant, the sole occupant of a vehicle, was stopped by a law enforcement officer, who found marijuana in the vehicle, but found only a small amount of marijuana on the person of Fultz, yet the Court reversed his conviction, finding insufficient evidence. Here, the Appellant had now contraband on him, neither was there any found in the interior of the car. The contraband found was all in a bag that the nephew of the Appellant testified that he had found and put into the trunk.

The state absolutely failed to present any evidence, certainly insufficient evidence, on the issue of possession. The jury was left to speculate as to whether he had constructive knowledge of the presence and character of the drugs. Based upon the evidence presented and not presented in this case, Appellant's convictions should be reversed.

## CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons Robert Lee Robinson, Appellant herein, respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse his convictions herein, and/or remand his case to the trial court for further appropriate proceedings.