# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROBERT LEE ROBINSON

APPELLANT

MAY 0 2 2807

NO. 2006-KA-1446-COA

VS.

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not err in overruling Robinson's motion for a directed verdict, peremptory instruction or for JNOV. This is not a case where reasonable and fairminded jurors could only have found the defendant not guilty.

A reasonable and fairminded juror could have found from the testimony and evidence that the black bag containing four different controlled substances was constructively in the possession of Robinson who owned the automobile and was its sole occupant.

A presumption of constructive possession arose based upon Robinson's ownership of the automobile in which the contraband was found. Hamburg v. State, 248 So.2d 430, 432 (Miss. 1971). See also Fultz v. State, 573 So.2d 689 (Miss. 1990); Fuente v. State, 744 So.2d 284 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999). Cf. Boches v. State, 506 So.2d 254 (Miss. 1987).

A reasonable, hypothetical juror could have found that Robinson possessed, constructively, if not actually, the controlled substances contained in the black bag found inside the trunk of Robinson's automobile.

We agree with Judge Webster that Robinson's guilt or innocence was a jury issue. (R. 144, 200) The presumption of possession plus other incriminating circumstances were sufficient to warrant a jury in finding that Robinson exercised dominion and control over the contraband, was aware of the presence and character of the contraband, and was intentionally and consciously in possession of the contraband.

In short, there was enough evidence, which if true, was sufficient to prove that Robinson both "knowingly" and "intentionally" possessed the controlled substances.

#### ARGUMENT

# THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING ROBINSON'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT.

In a case involving controlled substances found in schedules, I, II, and IV, the possession of which is prohibited by Miss.Code Ann. §41-29-139 (c), Robert Lee Robinson claims "[t]he state absolutely failed to present any evidence, certainly insufficient evidence, on the issue of possession [and] [t]he jury was left to speculate as to whether he had constructive knowledge of the presence and character of the drugs." (Brief of Appellant at 13)

He claims the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt he possessed, either actually or constructively, drugs and controlled substances contained in the double zippered shaving kit found inside the trunk of Robinson's automobile following a routine traffic stop for speeding. (Brief of Appellant at ili, 9-13)

In short, Robinson argues the verdict returned by the jury was based on insufficient evidence.

He assails the sufficiency, as opposed to the weight, of the evidence used to convict him.

Robinson claims the State failed to prove he was aware of the presence and character of the cocaine and was intentionally and consciously in possession of it.

We submit, on the other hand, there was ample testimony from which a reasonable, fairminded, hypothetical juror could find that Robinson was in constructive, if not actual, possession of the contraband found inside the trunk of his automobile.

Robinson was both the owner and the sole occupant of the automobile in which the drugs were found. He had traveled from Memphis to Cleveland and was en-route back to Memphis when he was stopped for speeding.

"[O]ne who is the owner in possession of the premises, or the vehicle in which contraband

is kept or transported, is presumed to be in constructive possession of the articles found in or on the property possessed." **Hamburg v. State**, 248 So.2d 430, 432 (Miss. 1971), and the many cases cited therein.

Although this presumption is rebuttable, there are insufficient facts in the record that would cause the presumption to give way.

Aside from the fact that Robinson, as both owner and sole occupant, had exclusive possession and control of the automobile, i.e., "dominion and control," there were other incriminating factors.

- 1. The odor of marijuana detected by Rawlinson but not by Robinson.
- 2. The \$2400 found in the console. (R. 105)
- 3. The VIN discrepancies. (R. 105-06)
- 4. The absence of an inspection sticker and the tinted side windows. (R. 103)
- 5. The permission to search the trunk but *only* with a warrant. (R. 105)
- 6. The Oldsmobile was registered to Howard Covington. (R. 106)
- 7. The testimony from Robinson the \$2400 was given to him by his business partner versus what Robinson told Rawlinson, viz., "it was money from his job." (R. 107)
- 8. The Mississippi driver's license although Robinson lived in Memphis and drove a car with a Tennessee tag. (R. 105, 153, 158, 170)
- 9. The testimony from Wilson the black bag had a single zipper and no handle (R. 191-92) versus the acknowledgment from Robinson the bag had two zippers and a handle. (R. 160)
- 10. The female shoes and other clothing found inside the trunk together with the black bag. Robinson testified he placed the shoes inside the trunk and admitted that he sold clothing. (R. 176)

This is not clearly not a case where the facts show actual possession to be in another.

The jury was instructed, *inter alia*, that in order to find Robinson guilty of possession, "... there must be sufficient facts to warrant a finding that Robert Lee Robinson was aware of the presence of drugs in the trunk of his car and was intentionally and consciously in possession of those drugs." (R. 207; C.P. at 24)

There were, and he was.

Possession of a controlled substance may be either actual, constructive, individual or joint.

Wolf v. State, 260 So.2d 425, 432 (Miss. 1972).

"Constructive possession allows the prosecution to establish possession of contraband when evidence of actual possession is absent." Fuente v. State, 734 So.2d 284, 288 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999), quoting from Roberson v. State, 595 So.2d 1310, 1319 (Miss. 1992).

We submit the identity of Robinson, as either actual or constructive possessor of contraband, was supplied by reasonable inferences drawn from all the evidence and from incriminating circumstances, including ownership, occupancy, and the proximity factor.

A jury could have inferred that Robinson was well aware of the presence and character of the drugs found inside a black bag located inside the trunk together with female clothing sold by Robinson and that he consciously and intentionally possessed it.

Judge Webster applied the correct legal standard in denying Robinson's motion and renewed motion for a directed verdict. (R. 143-44, 200)

"When sufficiency of the evidence is challenged on appeal this Court properly should review the Circuit Court's ruling on the last occasion when the sufficiency of the evidence was challenged before the trial court." Wetz v. State, 503 So.2d 803, 808, note 3 (Miss. 1987). In the case *sub judice*, the circuit court's ruling on the last occasion when the sufficiency of the evidence was assailed was the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (C.P. at 59) but, if not, the motion

for directed verdict made at the close of all the evidence. (R. 220)

Both were properly denied. Indeed, there can be no question about it.

In judging the legal sufficiency, as opposed to the weight, of the evidence on a motion for a directed verdict or request for peremptory instruction or motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the trial judge is required to accept as true all of the evidence that is favorable to the State, including all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom, and to *disregard* evidence favorable to the defendant. **Hubbard v. State**, 819 So.2d 1192 (Miss. 2001), reh denied; **Yates v. State**, 685 So.2d 715, 718 (Miss. 1996); **Ellis v. State**, 667 So.2d 599, 612 (Miss. 1995); **Clemons v. State**, 460 So.2d 835 (Miss. 1984); **Forbes v. State**, 437 So.2d 59 (Miss. 1983); **Bullock v. State**, 391 So.2d 601 (Miss. 1980). *See also* **Jones v. State**, 904 So.2d 149, 153-54 (Miss. 2005) ["The relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt."]

This includes the testimony of Robinson who denied possession and the testimony of Wilson who claimed he placed the bag inside the trunk.

If under this standard, sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict of guilty exists, the motion for a directed verdict, request for peremptory instruction or motion for JNOV should be overruled. **Brown v. State,** 556 So.2d 338 (Miss. 1990); **Davis v. State,** 530 So.2d 694 (Miss. 1988).

A finding the evidence is insufficient results in a discharge of the defendant. **May v. State**, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984).

The evidence, together with all reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom, was, in our opinion, legally sufficient to support Robinson's conviction of possession.

One has constructive possession of a controlled substance when it is subject to his dominion and control. Williams v. State, 892 So.2d 272 Ct.App.Miss. 2004) reh denied, cert denied 901 So.2d 1273. Robinson, as stated previously, was the sole occupant and the owner of the vehicle where the dope was found.

The ground rules governing constructive possession are applicable here. The burden is upon the State of Mississippi to prove the defendant had knowledge of the character of the contraband and that he was either in actual or constructive possession of same. These elements may be proved by circumstantial evidence. **Martin v. State**, 413 So.2d 730, 732 (Miss. 1982). *See also* **United States v. Pigrum**, 922 F.2d 249 (5th Cir. 1991).

This Court has often said that a substance is within one's constructive possession when it is subject to his dominion or control. **Keys v. State**, 478 So.2d 266, 268 (Miss. 1985).

In Curry v. State, 249 So.2d 414, 416 (Miss. 1971), a prosecution for the possession of marijuana, this Court defined the contours of the constructive possession rule as follows:

What constitutes a sufficient external relationship between the defendant and the narcotic property to complete the concept of "possession" is a question which is not susceptible of a specific rule. However, there must be sufficient facts to warrant a finding that defendant was aware of the presence and character of the particular substance and was intentionally and consciously in possession of it. It need not be actual physical possession. Constructive possession may be shown by establishing that the drug was subject to his dominion or control. Proximity is usually an essential element, but by itself is not adequate in the absence of other incriminating circumstances. In the instant case, all of the circumstances and these criteria were sufficient to warrant the jury in finding that appellant was in possession of the marijuana. [citations omitted; emphasis ours]

Additional incriminating facts, i.e., "other incriminating circumstances," available for the jury's consideration have been stated elsewhere in our response.

In **Fultz v. State**, 573 So.2d 689, 690 (Miss. 1990), we find the following language describing the contours of constructive possession:

The doctrine of constructive possession is a legal fiction used by courts when actual possession cannot be proven. Relying on *Curry v. State*, 249 So.2d 414 (Miss. 1971), commentators Whitebread and Stevens classified Mississippi among the jurisdictions in which "proximity" coupled with any other scintilla of evidence of possession established constructive possession. *See, generally*, C. Whitebread & R. Stevens, Constructive Possession, 58 Va.L.Rev. 751, n. 26 (1972). In that case, this Court adopted the fiction and articulated the test to be applied to the proof as follows:

there must be sufficient facts to warrant a finding that defendant was aware of the presence and character of the particular substance and was intentionally and consciously in possession. Constructive possession may be shown by establishing that the drug involved was subjected to his dominion or control. Proximity is usually an essential element, but by itself is not adequate in the absence of other incriminating circumstances. Curry v. State, 249 So.2d 414, 416 (Miss. 1971). (Emphasis added)

In **Fultz** evidence that marijuana was found inside the trunk of the automobile being driven, but not owned, by Fultz and that the defendant had a small amount of marijuana in his wallet was not sufficient to establish that Fultz constructively possessed the marijuana found inside the trunk of the vehicle.

Not so in the case at bar where Robinson was both the owner of the vehicle and its sole occupant. See also Hamburg v. State, supra, 248 So.2d 430, 432 (Miss. 1971); Fuente v. State, supra, 744 So.2d 284 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999). Cf. Boches v. State, supra, 506 So.2d 254 (Miss. 1987).

What standards are applied by a reviewing court in reviewing the often raised questions involving the legal sufficiency of the evidence?

In Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836 (Miss. 2005), the Supreme Court re-articulated the standards

applied by a reviewing Court in reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence. "If a review of the evidence reveals that it is of such quality and weight that, 'having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense,' the evidence will be deemed to have been sufficient." **Bush v. State,** *supra*, 895 So.2d at 843.

Our position on this issue can be summarized in only three (3) words: "classic jury issue." Judge Webster said as much. (R.144)

CONCLUSION

A reasonable and fairminded juror could have found from the evidence that Robert Lee

Robinson, owner and sole occupant of the motor vehicle in which the drugs were found,

constructively, if not actually, possessed the contraband found inside the trunk.

The jury was certainly not bound to accept the testimony of young Wilson who claimed he

found the bag in the bushes and placed it inside the trunk of Robinson's vehicle.

A reasonable and fairminded juror could have found that at the time Trooper Rawlinson

discovered the drugs they were possessed constructively, if not actually, by Robinson who was

aware of their presence and character and was intentionally and consciously in possession of them.

Contrary to Robinson's position, there were additional incriminating circumstances

connecting Robinson with the contraband.

Appellee respectfully submits no reversible error took place during the trial of this cause.

Accordingly, the judgments of conviction of four counts of possession, as an habitual offender, of

controlled substances, together with the thirty (30) sentence without the benefit of probation or

parole imposed by the trial judge, should be affirmed. (R. 250-51)